
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Thursday, January 9, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements 
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held December 16, 2024 
• Executive Session held December 16, 2024 
• Special Called Meeting held December 23, 2024 
• Executive Session held December 23, 2024 

b. Approve and Set Qualifying Fees for the 2025 Municipal Election 
 

8. Employee Recognition 
 

BUSINESS 
 

9. ZA-C2500044:  Habitat for Humanity-NCG has petitioned to rezone 3.128 acres, Located at Stegall Place (TMP 
D01 047 005, D01 047 006, D01 047 007, D01 047 008, D01 047 009, & D01 047 010) from R-2 (Single-Family 
Residential District) to RCT (Residential Cottage).  The applicant is proposing 22 cottages.  Public Hearing 
Dates:  Planning Commission on Monday, December 09, 2024, and City Council on Monday, December 16, 
2024.  City Council for a decision on Thursday, January 9, 2025. 

 

10. Special Called Meeting for Mayor & Council Retreat 
11. 2025 Vape License for SIF Investment LLC 
12. Uncollected Debt on Utility Accounts 

 

PUBLIC HEARING(S) 
 

13. VAR-C2500068: Hardeman Communities, Inc (Creekstone Subdivision) has requested a variance for a reduced 
front setback from the required 20 feet to 15 feet; located at TMP 083 026 189, 210 Timber Ridge, Lot 64, 
Dawsonville, GA.  Public Hearing Date: City Council Regular Meeting, Thursday, January 9, 2025, at 5:00 p.m. 
 

14. VAR-C2500069: Hardeman Communities, Inc (Creekstone Subdivision) has requested a variance for a reduced 
front setback from the required 20 feet to 10 feet; located at TMP 083 026 190, 224 Timber Ridge, Lot 65, 
Dawsonville, GA.  Public Hearing Date: City Council Regular Meeting, Thursday, January 9, 2025, at 5:00 p.m.  
 

15. VAR-C2500072: Habitat for Humanity-NCG has requested a variance for a reduced exterior buffer from the 
required 50 feet to 30 feet; located at TMP D01 047 005-010, Stegall Place, Dawsonville, GA.  Public Hearing 
Date: City Council Regular Meeting, Thursday, January 9, 2025, at 5:00 p.m.  
 

16. VAR-C2500073: Habitat for Humanity-NCG has requested a variance for an increase in the minimum home 
square feet from 1,000 square feet to 1,500 square feet; located at TMP D01 047 005-010, Stegall Place, 
Dawsonville, GA.  Public Hearing Date: City Council Regular Meeting, Thursday, January 9, 2025, at 5:00 p.m.  

 

  STAFF REPORTS 
 

17. Bob Bolz, City Manager 
18. Robin Gazaway, Finance Director 

 

  MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
     EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED: Pending or Potential Litigation, Real Estate Acquisition and/or Personnel 
     RESERVED FOR POTENTIAL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS, IF NEEDED 
     ADJOURNMENT 
  

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, February 3, 2025 
 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should contact the Clerk at 
Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 01/09/2025 
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held December 16, 2024 
• Executive Session held December 16, 2024 
• Special Called Meeting held December 23, 2024 
• Executive Session held December 23, 2024 

b. Approve and Set Qualifying Fees for the 2025 Municipal Election 
 

 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/09/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 

 

• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD DECEMBER 16, 2024 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD DECEMBER 16, 2024 
• SPECIAL CALLED MEETING HELD DECEMBER 23, 2024 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD DECEMBER 23, 2024 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 16, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 5 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Walden called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Sandy Sawyer, 
Councilmember Mark French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City 
Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utility 
Director Jacob Barr, Downtown Development Director Amanda Edmondson and Planning Director 
Ron Haynie.     

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE: Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember French.   

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Walden thanked everyone who came out and celebrated the 165th 
Anniversary of the founding of the City.  He also wished everyone a Merry Christmas and Happy New 
Year.     

 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by W. Illg; second 
by M. French  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  None     

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a-e) made by 
S. Sawyer; second by C. Phillips. Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held December 2, 2024 
• Executive Session held December 2, 2024 

b. Approve the Two Year Appointment of Municipal Court Judge Ronald Reemsnyder and 
Agreement 

c. Approve 2025 Professional Services 
• City Attorney – Tallant Howell 
• Auditor – Alexander, Almand and Bangs LLP 
• Engineers – Turnipseed Engineers, Inc. 

   BField Engineering, LLC 
   Civil Engineering Consultants, Inc. 

• City Solicitor – Jonah Howell 
• Wastewater Testing – Environmental Management Services 
• Geologist – A&S Environmental Services 
• Repair/Installation of Water & Sewer Infrastructure – Townley Construction 
• Airport Consultant Engineering Services – Lead Edge Design Group 
• Long Term Water Quality Monitoring – Vanasse Hangen Brustlin, Inc. 

d. Approve 2025 Mayor and Council Board Designations and Compensation 
Compensation of one meeting per month as designated below when attended: 

• Planning Commission – Caleb Phillips 
• Historic Preservation Commission – Mark French 
• Downtown Development Authority – William Illg 
• Family Connection – Sandy Sawyer 
• Board of Health – Mark French 
• Animal Control Board – Caleb Phillips 
• Chamber of Commerce – Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem 
• Dawsonville History Museum – Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem 
• Georgia Municipal Association – Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem 
• Georgia Mountain Regional Commission – Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem 

e. Approve Intergovernmental Agreement with Dawson County: 2025 Municipal Election 
 

 

8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION: The Mayor and Council awarded John Tatum a  three year service 
award and Stacy Harris received a seven year service award.  City Manager Bolz announced the 
November Employee of the Month was Sara Beacham who was not in attendance.   

 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 16, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 5 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

9. ZA-C2500044:  Habitat for Humanity-NCG has petitioned to rezone 3.128 acres, Located at Stegall 
Place (TMP D01 047 005, D01 047 006, D01 047 007, D01 047 008, D01 047 009, & D01 047 010) 
from R-2 (Single-Family Residential District) to RCT (Residential Cottage).  The applicant is proposing 
22 cottages.  Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on Monday, December 09, 2024, and City 
Council on Monday, December 16, 2024.  City Council for a decision on Thursday, January 9, 2025. 
 

Planning Director Ron Haynie read the rezone request. 
 

Motion to open the public hearing made by M. French; second by W.  Illg.  Vote carried unanimously 
in favor.  Mayor Walden conducted the public hearing.              

                 The following person(s) spoke in favor of the request: 
 

• Hal Stringer, 3594 Morningwood Ct., Suwanee, Georgia – As a representative from Habitat 
for Humanity he provided an overview of the statistics and business model of Habitat for 
Humanity.  He further included data concerning supply vs. demand and their intent for the 
community they’d like to build within the City.         

      The ten minute allowance for the public hearing expired.  Motion to extend the public hearing by five 
minutes for both sides made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.    

 

• Mr. Stringer further emphasized their intention to provide a showcase property providing well 
built, energy efficient and pedestrian friendly homes which helps solve the middle and senior 
housing crisis.    

 

• Caleb Regnier, 7306 Jordan Lane, Dawsonville, Georgia – He advocated for the Habitat for 
Humanity model claiming it would help meet a need to be able to purchase affordable starter 
homes within the community.   

 

       The following person(s) spoke in opposition to the request:   
 

• Shon Geddes, 4085 Copper Leaf Lane, Cumming, Georgia – He stated he owns several 
investment properties near the site of the proposed development and he spoke against the 
requested variances (not on this agenda) and about an increased number of people which 
creates the concern for parking. He also shared concerns regarding potential landscaping 
noise, the location of the dumpster and would like there to be an evergreen privacy buffer.  He 
did state he is not against Habitat for Humanity but would like to see the Council think through 
the first-time Cottage zoning designation in the downtown area.     

       Motion to close the public hearing made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously 
in favor.   

 

       Councilmember Illg stated he likes the design of the cottages and the community aspect and believes 
it will fill a need for affordable homes; however, he does have concerns about parallel parking on 
Stegall Place which could pose problems and asked about additional parking options within the 
community.  He further stated he is concerned about the future residents, fifteen to thirty years from 
now, who were not original owners and didn’t labor with the community to build it.  He also inquired 
how the HOA would work and the landscaping of the properties.  

 

       Corey Guthrie, the engineer working on the project, stated they could consider other alternatives for 
parking to eliminate parallel parking on Stegall Place.  Regarding the HOA, Mr. Stringer from Habitat 
for Humanity stated the HOA is important to us and self-governance is the key to keeping this 
subdivision preserved but to date, the HOA has not been structured.  He said there have been 
concerns of rentals but Habitat for Humanity does not allow persons holding a mortgage with them 
to rent their home and would consider adding a ten percent inclusion to the covenants of the HOA 
to limit renters.  He also stated the intention would be to have one landscaping contract.       

       Councilmember Sawyer asked why this piece of property in the City of Dawsonville was chosen for 
the project.  Mr. Stringer stated this property became available and had a wastewater connection 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 16, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 3 of 5 
 

plus they like the area and want to be here.  She further asked about the density and wanted to know 
if it could be lowered, saying the original proposal was for less housing.  Mr. Stringer stated they 
became aware of data that suggested a lot of seniors were being displaced from their homes and 
changed some of the homes from three bedrooms to one and two bedroom homes.  He also said 
the density helps with lowering the overall cost of the homes but being in the working phase, it could 
be reduced.  Councilmember Sawyer again stated her concern about the density since there is a lot 
of construction occurring within the quarter to half-mile radius of this project.  She would also like to 
see amenities within the community and would like them defined and laid out for review.  Mr. Stringer 
said there is a community center planned and a playground.  Lastly, she wanted confirmation that 
all of the homes were detached and not duplexes;  Mr. Stringer stated they are all detached with the 
intention to have a raised foundation.   

 

       Councilmember Phillips asked Mr. Guthrie if the sewer would have to be pumped to the City and 
where it might be located.  Mr. Guthrie confirmed that it would need to be pumped and would likely 
be located in the greenspace on the northeast side of the property.  

 

       Councilmember French asked Mr. Stringer if this is the only property being considered for this project; 
Mr. Stringer responded yes.  Councilmember French also asked whether or not the HOA will have 
the ability to place on a lien on a property that is not being maintained properly; Mr. Stringer 
responded yes that would be the intention but reiterated the HOA has not yet been structured.   

 

       Councilmember Sawyer asked whether or not Habitat for Humanity owns this property; Mr. Stringer 
responded yes.    

 

       Mayor Walden asked about the original design presented to him which had twelve to fifteen units 
versus the latest design which contains twenty-two units and wanted to understand why the units 
had increased.  Mr. Stringer stated he did originally produce a design with less units but larger in 
size and explained the architect didn’t think the layout worked well.  Mr. Stringer then received the 
data concerning the need for one bedroom units and wanted to meet that need resulting in additional 
units but smaller in size.  Mayor Walden expressed his concern for safety and privacy and feels the 
units seem a bit cramped.  Mr. Stringer explained it does contribute to the overall community feeling 
for the development but the number of units could be decreased.   

 

       Councilmember Illg asked if the architect had designed other communities like this one and if so, he 
would like to take a look at them.   Mr. Stringer stated he would have to find out .  Councilmember 
Phillips agreed that it would be helpful if they could see one of the communities before the next 
meeting.  

 

       Councilmember Sawyer wanted to know if all the homes had driveways.  Mr. Guthrie stated there is 
a mixture but, in some areas, there is centralized parking to keep all the front of the homes facing a 
greenspace which contributes to the elements of the cottage designation.   

 

       Councilmember Phillips asked about the type of material for siding; Mr. Stringer stated they use 
Hardie board.  Councilmember Phillips asked Attorney Tallant whether or not the Council could place 
stipulations on the HOA covenants despite there being no HOA in existence yet; Attorney Tallant 
replied they could.  

 

BUSINESS 
 

10. FY 2023-2024 FINANCIAL AUDIT:  Motion to accept the FY 2023-2024 audit as presented by 
Alexandar, Almand & Bangs at the December 2, 2024 meeting made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor.   
 

11. 2025 VAPE LICENSES:   Motion to approve four 2025 vape licenses as presented made by W. Illg; 
second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 
 
 
 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 16, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 4 of 5 
 

12. DAWSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION: REQUEST FOR DEVELOPMENT AND BUILDING 
PERMIT FEE WAIVER:  Motion to approve the waiver for permit fees for the Dawson County Board 
of Education for Phase 2 of the Dawson County High School Baseball & Softball Complex in the 
amount of $4,931.95 made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

13. RESOLUTION NO. R2024-08: RAISE GRANT:  Motion to approve Resolution No. R2024-08 as 
presented made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  (Exhibit “A”) 

 

14. GEORGIA POWER COMPANY: GRANT SUPPORT OF FEASIBILITY STUDY OF A CANNERY 
AND SHARED KITCHEN BUSINESS INCUBATION PROJECT:  Motion to accept the $12,000 grant 
from the Georgia Power Company made by M. French; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

 

15. CAMERA SYSTEM UPGRADE:  Motion to approve a bid from All Secure Alert Systems Inc. in the 
amount of $23,875.50 for the placement of additional cameras in Main Street Park and to approve 
adding audio capabilities to the City Hall lobby camera made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Short 
discussion regarding adding more cameras for a full view of the parking lot. Vote carried unanimously 
in favor.   

 

16. 2025 MAYOR PRO TEMPORE APPOINTMENT:  Motion to appoint Caleb Phillips as the 2025 Mayor 
Pro Tempore made by W.  Illg; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried three in favor (Illg, Sawyer, French) 
with one abstained (Phillips).      

    STAFF REPORTS 
 

17. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  City Manager Bolz presented his report in the agenda packet and 
reported the leak adjustment total was $467.60. 
 

18. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE DIRECTOR:  (Not in attendance) Finance Director Gazaway provided 
the financial reports representing fund balances and activity through November 30, 2024 in the 
agenda packet. 
 

    MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS:   
 

 Mayor Walden reported Grandaddy Mimms ran their first batch of distilled spirits in their new location 
next door.   

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

 At 6:00 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for real estate acquisition, 
pending/potential litigation and/or personnel  was made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor. 

 

 At 6:34 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.  
 

 Motion to resume regular session was made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.     

ADJOURNMENT 
 

At 6:35 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by S. Sawyer; second by C. Phillips.  Vote 
carried three in favor (Phillips, Sawyer, Walden) with two opposed (French, Illg). 

  
 Approved this 9th day of January 2025 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Mayor 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 16, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
         
   Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 





Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, December 23, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Walden called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.   

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Sandy Sawyer, 
Councilmember Mark French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City 
Manager Bob Bolz and City Clerk Beverly Banister.    

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE: Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Phillips.   

4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by W. Illg; second 
by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

5. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

6. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  Motion made at 5:01 p.m. to close regular session and go into executive 
session for real estate acquisition, pending/potential litigation and/or personnel by M. French; second 
by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

At 6:15 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by W. Illg; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote 
carried three in favor (French, Illg, Sawyer) with one absent (Phillips). Councilmember Phillips left 
shortly before the executive session was adjourned.   
 

Motion to resume regular session made by M. French; second by W. Illg. Vote carried three in favor 
(French, Illg, Sawyer) with one absent (Phillips).   

 

7. ADJOURNMENT:  Motion made at 6:16 p.m. to adjourn the meeting by M. French; second by W. Illg.  
Vote carried three in favor (French, Illg, Sawyer) with one absent (Phillips)       

      
 Approved this 9th  day of January 2025. 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 
 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
         
   Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 





                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    APPROVE AND SET QUALIFYING FEES FOR THE 2025 MUNICIPAL ELECTION        

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 01/09/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO APPROVE AND SET THE QUALIFYING FEE FOR COUNCILMEMBER POST #2 AND POST 
#4 FOR THE 2025 ELECTION  
 

COUNCILMEMBER QUALIFYING FEE IS $265.00 
 

 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   QUALIFYING FEES ARE REQUIRED BY O.C.G.A. § 21-2-131 (1)(A) TO BE SET AND PUBLISHED PRIOR 
TO FEBRUARY 1 AND CALCULATED USING 3% OF PRIOR YEAR GROSS SALARIES      

   THE ACTUAL DAYS AND HOURS OF THE QUALIFYING PERIOD WILL BE SET BY THE ELECTIONS 
SUPERINTENDENT AND USUALLY OCCUR DURING THE THIRD WEEK OF AUGUST 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
     
   APPROVE  
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 
 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Beverly Banister, City Clerk 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7b     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                                  EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION_____________  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/09/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO RECOGNIZE AND PRESENT EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION 
 

    
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:                 Bob Bolz, City Manager________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   8    
 

 

 















































































































                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    SPECIAL CALLED MEETING FOR MAYOR & COUNCIL RETREAT 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/09/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   MAYOR WALDEN TO CALL FOR A SPECIAL CALLED MEETING REGARDING THE MAYOR 
AND COUNCIL RETREAT: 

 
• FEBRUARY 7 & 8, 2025 BEGINNING AT 8:30 A.M. 
• AMICALOLA LODGE, 418 AMICALOLA FALLS ROAD, DAWSONVILLE 

 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
  
 
 

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
 
 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: John Walden, Mayor 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  10      
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:  2025 VAPE LICENSE FOR SIF INVESTMENT, LLC    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/09/2025    
 
 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
  
 TO REQUEST APPROVAL FOR THE 2025 VAPE LICENSE  
 
 

HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
CURRENT LICENSE EXPIRED ON 12/31/2024 
 
VAPE LICENSE TO BE RENEWED: 
 

1. SIF INVESTMENT, LLC dba BP STATION 75 HIGHWAY 9 NORTH  
 
 
 
OPTIONS:   
 
 

 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
Approve, Deny, or Postpone 
 
 
DEPARTMENT: Planning and Zoning           
 
 
REQUESTED BY: Stacy Harris, Zoning Admin _____      

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    11   
 







                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    UNCOLLECTED DEBT ON UTILITY ACOUNTS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/09/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO REQUEST TO WRITE-OFF UNCOLLECTED DEBT ON UTILITY ACOUNTS TOTALLING 
$4,254.02 

 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• REQUEST INCLUDES UTILITY ACCOUNTS THAT ARE CLOSED AND BALANCES HAVE 
NOT BEEN COLLECTED FOR SIX YEARS AND WILL NO LONGER BE PURSUED BY THE 
COLLECTION AGENGY PER GA LAW; CLOSED ACCOUNTS WITH BALANCES THAT ARE 
OVER ONE YEAR OLD AND PERSONS ARE DECEASED AND/OR UNCOLLECTED 
BALANCES TOTALLING $5.00 AND UNDER 
 

• ATTEMPTS AT COLLECTING BALANCES HAVE BEEN PURSUED BY THE UTILITY 
DEPARTMENT AND THEN TURNED OVER TO PENN CREDIT FOR COLLECTION AS PER 
THE ORDINANCE 

 

• 39 ACCOUNTS TOTALLING $4,254.02 
 
 

   
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Tracy Smith, Utility Billing Clerk 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   12     
 

 

 

































































































































                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: CITY MANAGER    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/09/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PROVIDE CITY UPDATES  

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES:   
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED OUTLINE  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Bob Bolz, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #     17     
 

 

 



CITY MANAGER REPORT 

 PREPARED JANUARY 6 FOR JANUARY 9, 2025 AGENDA 

 
Happy New Year: We hope you and yours had a very Happy New Year and wish you the very best in 
2025. 
 
Light Up Dawsonville: Winners thus far include Cameron Cowart, Byrd’s Mini Storage, Etowah Water and Sewer 
Authority, and the City of Dawsonville. All but one of the winners donated their prize money to The Place. The 
People’s Choice Award will be determined on January 6th and announced shortly thereafter. 
 
City of Dawsonville Food Bank: The Dawson County High School CTAE program sponsored a successful food 
drive program to help us with badly needed food items. We also had an anonymous donor who committed a 
$1,000.00 monthly donation for our food bank. The size of our food pantry was more than doubled to meet a great 
need in our community. Kudos to Beth and Annette for their work with this vital project. 
 
Weather Preparations: 2024 went out like a lion and the year ended as the 14th wettest on record thanks to the 
fourth wettest July and the third wettest September despite the driest October on record. January and even February 
look to be fun. Widespread rain was received Sunday into Monday January 5 and 6 with temps near but above 
freezing. Staff are prepared should the temperature drop before the rain ends, and we get frozen precipitation. 
Extremely cold temperatures are forecasted all the following week with the chance for snow toward the end of the 
week. We will keep you informed if NOAA starts special briefings. Staff are ready to respond with Public Works and 
Utility Departments on call and preparing equipment, generators, etc. We will step up our PR campaign providing 
cold weather resources and other pertinent information the first of the week, once we get a better read on the 
weather. 
 
Santa Came Early: On December 19th, staff received word from the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget that in 
addition to the $3.3 million already awarded to the city for construction of a new wastewater treatment facility funded 
by ARPA, an additional $7.5 million was added bringing our total to $10.8 million. Thus, instead of financing over $17 
million, we now hope to only finance $9 – 10 million. Additionally, Turnipseed is working with GEFA to secure said 
financing as the USDA seems to be waiting to decide until the new administration takes office, sets direction, and 
provides funding amounts. 
 
Assistant City Manager Interviews: We received 36 applications for Assistant City Manager. That group was cut 
down to about 17 for interviews based on education, experience, and growth potential. A panel of the City Manager, 
Public Works Director, and Financial Director interviewed the remaining applicants and references are being 
checked, then the panel will recommend the top candidates for interviews by members of the City Council. 
 
Patio: The patio renovation will begin just after the January 10th Granddaddy Mimms Grand Opening. 
 
GDOT Work on the Downtown Roundabout: Work should start soon with the plan to conduct most of it during 
nighttime hours. 
 
Shoal Creek Bridge Construction & Paving Project: This project is underway with the major relocation of our 
water service line complete. At the same time, the county plans to carry out FDR and repaving on Shoal Creek Road. 



This will involve our financial support for this project as well. On December 16th, we will present a request and 
recommendation to the City Council for use of LMIG and TSPLOST funds for this project to the tune of an estimated 
$449,692.00. After the first of the year, work should start at the $2 million roundabout at Shoal Creek and Hwy 136. 

GDOT TAP Grant: A GDOT Transportation Alternative Grant was submitted for consideration, and we have been 
advised it looks promising which may provide funding for roundabouts at Hwy 9S and Perimeter Road as well as at 
Allen Street and Hwy 53. 

TSPLOST: Planning will begin in earnest after the first of the year as we kick off our transportation projects. Maple 
Steet continues to be a priority. We met began meeting this week with engineering firms who specialize in 
transportation projects. We met with BMK, the firm that is managing the county’s TSPLOST projects. 

Impact Fees: The City Council approved the revised CIE, and it has been submitted to DCA for their approval. DCA 
requested additional information from GMRC which has also been submitted as we await approval from that agency. 

Streetlight Conversion: GA Power will be converting all the streetlights the city is responsible for to LED, which 
should save power usage and be cost effective over the long haul.  

Disc Golf Expansion: the addition of nine more holes to our disc golf course utilizing the property of the Board of 
Education is moving along nicely. The trail is complete, the course laid out, the baskets installed, sign stands 
received, and maps under development. 
 
Amicalola Electric Membership Corporation Donation: The city received a $20,000.00 grant from AEMC to be 
used toward construction of a rest room and shelter to serve the pickleball courts and other amenities on that end of 
the park. This is the third year in a row we have received this gracious award from the AEMC. We are in the process 
of getting bids on the shelter construction. 
 
DCA Historic Resource Survey for CLG $6,000.00 Grant: The final study is nearing completion and will include 
consideration of the National Register of Historic Districts nomination for downtown.  

Water System Capacity Increase: The pump was replaced at well #111. A variable speed pump was installed that 
is now pumping over 110 GPM increasing our volume by 36,000 GPD for a total of 162,000 GPD from this one well. 
EPD has approved testing at the potential spring site and that process is underway. Bids have been obtained and 
this process is underway. EPD has approved testing at the potential spring site and that process is underway. 
 
Wastewater Treatment Plant: EPD has approved the NPDES permitting USDA is evaluating the project, and they 
have moved it to the next phase of review with the national office requesting a rewrite of the underwriting. We have 
been preparing information seeking a GEFA loan. That has always been our plan B should USDA not work out. We 
will keep you informed of this issue as we investigate this loan option with GEFA. Heavy sludge levels at the current 
WWTP due primarily to high strength poultry waste, our existing pond will need to be dredged soon, estimated cost 
just under $1 million. 
 
Generator Grants – GEMA: Staff have worked hard to prepare grant request packages that have been submitted to 
GEMA for several generators that would be permanently installed at several of our water wells, and the sewage lift 
stations. We received word that they are in the final review stages, and we are still in consideration.  

LGRMS Safety Grant: For the tenth year in a row, we received the fully allowable safety grant from LGRMS. This 
year’s amount was $6,300.00. Funds will be used to reimburse our purchase of some high visibility T-shirts making 



employee safer working in and around traffic, Bluetooth jobsite ear buds, mesh safety vests, a back-up camera for 
the skid steer, plug in flasher lights to make vehicles more visible, and a wet umbrella stand for City Hall lobby to 
lessen risk of slip, trips and falls. There will be a ‘big’ check event scheduled soon. 

Flock Public Safety Cameras: Staff are working with Flock cameras and the DCSO regarding installation of 
cameras at locations in the city.  
 
City Hall Surveillance Cameras: Staff have added cameras at City Hall surveying more of the parking lot and an 
upgrade to the lobby camera including the capability to receive audio.  
 
Main Street Park: 
 

• Surveillance Cameras: We are researching and hope to have a cost recommendation for the City Council 
to consider at the 12/16 meeting for installation of 12 additional surveillance cameras focused on the 
pickleball and basketball courts, pavilions #1 and #3, the new rest room/shelter, and the skate park. We are  
researching adding power for a streetlight at the dog park at which we would also add a camera. 

• Zip Wire Element: The zip wire element is out of service again due to riders who exceed the weight limit, 
including many adults, ignoring signs directing them not to ride. 

• Playground & Shade: Staff continue researching shade for various locations in the park, including the 
playground, skate park, pickleball courts, and dog park. We received $10,000.00 from the Dawsonville 
Civitan Club which will be used for this project over the inclusive playground area. Impact Fees could be 
used to supplement this grant. Our goal is to get 75-90% of the equipment under some form of shade. 
Expert recommendations anticipate the cost to exceed more than $100,000.00.  

• Water Fountains: We continue evaluating additional locations for water fountains within the park, each 
costing about $7,000. 

• Amphitheater Stage: Staff are researching options for this project. 
• Splash Pad: Research into the possibility of adding this amenity is underway. The current cost estimate is 

over $350,000.00. Impact Fees could help fund this project.  
• Power for Amphitheater & Christmas Tree Walk: We are working with GA Power for additional power for 

the future amphitheater. Impact Fees could provide a great source of revenue for this project. 
• Cannery & Multi-use Facility: GA Power has agreed to fund a $12,000.00 feasibility study for this project. 

Early vision sees the facility not only being a cannery, but a dual kitchen that includes incubator space, 
refrigerated cold/frozen storage, classroom, emergency shelter for warming needs and other weather 
events, etc.  
 

Downtown Dawsonville Comprehensive Strategic Plan:   

• Staff are working to develop application and promotional materials to educate the public about the Rural 
Zone designation incentives. 

• Staff are seeking an impact analysis from Georgia Power for the surf park project. 
• Staff recommends and is researching application for Downtown Dawsonville to receive a “Georgia Main 

Street” classic or affiliate designation. 
• Staff are preparing research, working with GMRC for a RAISE grant application. 
• Staff are preparing research for a USDA Rural Business Development grant. 

 
Economic Development & Promotion:   

• Hotel Feasibility Study with the Highlands Group is nearing completion.  
 

Business Retention: DDA-funded merchandise being designed and project-managed by staff: 



o New Downtown Dawsonville brochures (contracts to be made with local businesses) 
 So far 14 Downtown Dawsonville businesses have paid to participate in this program. 

o Staff designed and ordered Historic Downtown Dawsonville Post Cards to disperse. 
o Historic Downtown Dawsonville Tee Shirts - Ordered and received. 

 Staff set up a POS system for making purchases in person or at 
downtowndawsonville.com 

 Staff will sell shirts at the Tree Lighting Event 
 Staff are working to set up sales tax filing. 

o Staff is developing a “Shop Downtown Dawsonville” punch-card program incentivizing shoppers to 
patronize multiple downtown stores, to potentially be funded by the DDA. 
 

Placemaking Projects: 

• Staff are working to obtain various approvals for 2 mural concepts to be funded by the DDA. 
• Staff continue to work with UNG to develop the framework for UNG art students spending a semester 

working on a City of Dawsonville public art project.  This project will involve research of Dawsonville to 
determine names for Main Street Park pavilions, and design creative signs for them. 

• An RFP for the “Stories of Dawsonville” mural is being developed. 
• Staff are researching cost options and are working with a potential sponsor for another free concert in Main 

Street Park. 
 
Commissions:  

• The Downtown Development Authority, with a recent resignation, has one vacancy. There are no 
expirations of terms until December 2025. The next meeting is scheduled for January 27, 2025. 

• We have one vacancy on the Historic Preservation Commission and no expirations until December 2025. 
The next meeting is scheduled for February 24, 2025. 

• The next Planning Commission meeting scheduled for January 13, 2025, has been cancelled due to no 
agenda items. 

 
Personnel:  
 

• Several staff took some well-deserved time off over the next two weeks. 
 

Leak Adjustments: There was one leak adjustment this month for water at $29.52 and sewer $43.95 
totaling $73.47.  

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: FINANCE DIRECTOR    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  01/09/2025   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PRESENT FUND BALANCE AND ACTIVITY THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2024 

 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED FINANCIAL REPORTS  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Robin Gazaway, Finance Director   

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  18   
 

 

 



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
GENERAL FUND

July 1, 2024 - Dec 31, 2024

50%

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
      Taxes 2,546,100$       1,518,400$       59.64%
      Licenses and permits 93,100              88,352              94.90%
      Intergovernmental revenues 56,000              15,000              26.79%
      Fees 331,700            81,718              24.64%
      Other 185,400            115,641            62.37%

 
               Total revenues 3,212,300         1,819,111         56.63%

EXPENDITURES
   Department:
      Council 166,200            74,804              45.01%
      Mayor 65,700              26,087              39.71%
      Elections 20,000              -                   0.00%
      Administration 1,170,762         458,618            39.17%
      City Hall building 189,500            83,322              43.97%
      Animal control 2,040                100                   4.90%
      Roads 725,800            395,570            54.50%
      Parks 114,200            45,472              39.82%
      Planning and zoning 569,000            320,361            56.30%
      Economic development 189,098            168,418            89.06%

 
               Total expenditures 3,212,300         1,572,752         48.96%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 246,359            

      Transfer in From Reserves (246,359)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
WATER, SEWER, AND GARBAGE FUND

July 1, 2024 - Dec 31, 2024

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
       Water fees 950,000$        535,231$        56.34%
       Sewer fees 1,050,000       719,622          68.54%
       Garbage fees 301,200          180,692          59.99%
       Miscellaneous 269,600          103,814          38.51%

               
               Total revenues 2,570,800       1,539,359       59.88%

EXPENDITURES
        Depreciation 633,000          333,761          52.73%
        Garbage service 301,200          116,725          38.75%
        Group insurance 200,600          73,700            36.74%
        Insurance 600                 -                  0.00%
        Interest 77,000            17,692            22.98%
        Payroll taxes 28,000            17,522            62.58%
        Professional 203,000          60,870            29.99%
        Miscellaneous 163,200          95,190            58.33%
        Repairs/supplies 286,000          121,729          42.56%
        Retirement 30,000            15,726            52.42%
        Salaries 332,000          232,440          70.01%
        Technical services 104,000          63,051            60.63%
        Utilities 212,200          84,962            40.04%

               Total expenditures 2,570,800       1,233,368       47.98%

INCOME (LOSS) 305,991          



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VI

July 1, 2024 - Dec 31, 2024

SPLOST VI
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Interest 1,400                446                   31.86%
       Other 7,600                -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 9,000                446                   4.96%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition -                   25                     #DIV/0!
       Roads and sidewalks -                   #DIV/0!
       Public works equipment - roads -                   -                   0.00%
       Sewer projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market 9,000                4,500                50.00%
       Parks and recreation -                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 9,000                4,525                50.28%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (4,079)              

      Transfer in From Reserves 4,079                
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VII

July 1, 2024 - Dec 31, 2024

SPLOST VII
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes 1,300,000         618,238            47.56%
       Interest 70,000              35,510              50.73%
       Other 1,535,000         -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 2,905,000         653,748            22.50%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition 1,000,000         60,990              6.10%
       Roads and sidewalks 1,000,000         16,362              1.64%
       Public works equipment - roads 25,000              -                   0.00%
       Land Acq. / Downtown -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects/Sewer Projects 780,000            7,925                0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Parks and recreation 100,000            9,284                0.00%

               Total expenditures 2,905,000         94,561              3.26%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 559,187            

      Transfer in From Reserves (559,187)          
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 0                       



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
TSPLOST 

July 1, 2024 - Dec 31, 2024

TSPLOST 
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes -                   115,868            #DIV/0!
       Interest -                   2                       #DIV/0!
       Other -                   -                   0.00%

               Total revenues -                       115,870            #DIV/0!

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
-                   -                   #DIV/0!

       Roads and sidewalks -                   -                   #DIV/0!
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   0.00%
-                   -                   #DIV/0!
-                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures -                   -                   #DIV/0!

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 115,870            

      Transfer in From Reserves (115,870)          
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (0)                     


	1. 01.09.2025 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2. 12.16.2024 MINUTES City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session.DRAFT
	7a. 3. 12.23.2024 MINUTES City Council Special Called Meeting.DRAFT
	7b. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items QUALIFYING FEES
	8. 1  Executive Summary For Agenda Items EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION
	9. 1.  ZA C2500044_Redacted
	10. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CALLED MEETINGS
	11. 1. 2025 VAPE LICENSES SIF INVESTMENT
	11. 2. SIF INVESTMENT VAPE_Redacted
	12. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items UNCOLLECTED DEBT
	13. 1. VAR C2500068_Redacted
	14. 1. VAR C2500069_Redacted
	15. 1. VAR C2500072_Redacted
	16. 1. VAR-C2500073_Redacted
	17. 1.  Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY MANAGER
	17. 2. 01092025 CITY MANAGER REPORT for the CCM
	18. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items FINANCE DIRECTOR
	18. 2. Financial Statements-DEC24
	GF Budget
	WS vs Budget
	SPLOST
	SPLOST VII
	TSPLOST




